1983

Gordon A. Gray v. The Industrial Commission of Utah, Department Of Employment Security : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Claimant Gordon A. Gray by this appeal seeks review of a decision of the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah denying Appellant unemployment compensation benefits pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §35-4-4(c) (1953, as amended) for failure to meet work search requirements for eligibility.

DISPOSITION BELOW

On September 29, 1982, the Utah Department of Employment Security sent Appellant notice that he had failed to make an adequate work search effort and denied him unemployment compensation benefits retroactively to August 29, 1982, with an overpayment liability assessment of \$498.00. On November 9, 1982, after a 4 1/2 hour hearing on the matter, Senior Appeals Referee Shonnie B. Passey rendered her decision which modified the Department of Employment Security's decision by denying benefits from August 29 through October 30, 1982, with the exception of the weeks ending October 9 and 16, 1982. The overpayment liability of \$498.00 was upheld. The Appeals Referee reopened the hearing on November 17, 1982, and modified her prior decision so that benefits would once again be allowed effective October 24, 1982. She also modified the overpayment liability of \$498.00 up to \$664.00.

On January 18, 1983, the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission reversed in part and affirmed in part the referee's decision. The Board affirmed the denial of benefits for the period August 29 through October 2, 1982, with the

exception of the calendar week ending September 25, 1982, during which benefits were allowed. Benefits were denied for the weeks ending October 9, 1982, and October 23, 1982, but allowed for the week ending October 16, 1982. Appellant's overpayment liability was modified down to \$498.00. This required overpayment was offset by valid claims filed October 16, 30, and November 6, 1982.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant asks the Court to reverse Respondent's decision that Appellant failed to make an active work search effort. Appellant further asks the Court to enter a judgment that Respondent's decision was not supported by substantial evidence and was not in compliance with Utah law. Finally, Appellant asks that the Court find that he is entitled to unemployment compensation benefits from August 29, 1982, until he is no longer otherwise eligible and that therefore, as a matter of law, no unemployment compensation benefits received by Appellant after October 29, 1982, were overpayments.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Department of Employment Security issued a decision dated September 29, 1982, (R. 160) denying Appellant Gordon A. Gray unemployment compensation insurance benefits effective August 29, 1982, on the grounds the Appellant had not made an active job search effort. Appellant had been called for an eligibility review on September 27, 1982, and

representative "D. Dean." Appellant listed the names of three employers whom he had contacted in person and by telephone during September. Following the conversation, Dean asked Appellant Gray to sign a "Statement Regarding Claims for Benefits" (R. 163) which Dean had authored. That statement indicated that "benefits could be denied" if Appellant didn't make the required number of contacts. Two days later, Appellant was sent an "Eligibility Determination and Overpayment Notice" (R. 160) signed by "V. Byrd" denying benefits beginning August 29, 1982, and assessing an overpayment of \$498.00 for the weeks ending September 4, 11, and 18, 1982.

Appellant Gray received his last benefit check during the week ending October 2, 1982, for the prior weeks claim.

On October 1, 1982, Appellant requested a hearing. Appellant received a hearing November 3, 1982, which hearing lasted approximately 4 1/2 hours. During the hearing he was examined and cross-examined as to every single job contact he had made since August 29, 1982.

In a decision dated November 9, 1982, (R. 43-48) Appeals Referee Shonnie B. Passey affirmed the decision of the Department representative in denying benefits from August 29, 1982, through October 30, 1982. However she modified the prior decision to allow benefits for the weeks ending October 9 and 16, 1982.

The Appeals Referee found that Appellant's telephone contacts were generally insufficient and that Gray was required to contact at least two new potential employers in person every

week. She further found that Appellant Gray was not without fault in creating the overpayment and required that the overpayment of \$498.00 be offset by withholding Appellant's weekly benefit amount.

The Appeals Referee re-opened the hearing November 1, 1982, to receive additional testimony from the Appellant regarding his job search efforts during the weeks of October 1, 1982, and November 8, 1982. (R. 41-42) The Appeals Referee amended her prior decision to find that the disqualification period terminated October 23, 1982, and allowed benefits effective October 24, 1982. The Appeals Referee further amended her prior decision to find that the overpayment was not \$498.00 but \$664.00.

On October 1, 1982, Appellant filed an appeal from the decision of the Appeals Referee to the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission. (R.39-40) In its decision (R. 12-13) the Board affirmed and adopted the findings of fact in the decision by the Appeals Referee with respect to the denial of benefits for the period August 29 through October 2, 1982, with the exception of the calendar week ending September 25, 1982, for which the Board allowed benefits. The Board also modified the Referee's decision by denying benefits for the week ending October 9, 1982.

The Board of Review noted that for the calendar week ending September 25, 1982, Appellant had made one in-person employer contact, supplemented by telephone contacts. However, he had only made telephone contacts for the week ending October

9, 1982, which the Board held were not sufficient to establish an active work search effort.

The modifications made by the Board of Review resulted in a reduction of Appellant's overpayment liability from \$664.00 to \$498.00, which the Board found had been offset by valid claims filed for the weeks ending October 16, 30, and November 6, 1982, thus taking a 100% set off.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Gordon A. Gray is a welder and steel worker having worked in the industry for over nine years. (R. 128) Through his work he has become a highly skilled welder. (R. 130) Through additional training, he has received certificates qualifying him to perform specialized work. (R. 127) During his lengthy testimony before the Appeals Referee, he established that from August 29 to October 30, 1982, he made 48 job contacts, 38 of which were made by telephone. To generalize, his basic approach was to contact a potential employer either by telephone or in person and fill out an application if permitted. After that, he would continue to contact these companies on a regular basis, generally by telephone. Often the companies themselves would request that he call them periodically to check back. Gray had worked for several of these employers before. They were therefore personally familiar with him and the quality of his work; those companies were Williamson Trucking (R. 66), Mark Steel (R.61), Allen Steel (R. 65), and O.J. Industries (R.54).

Appellant Gray continued to broaden his search checking with new potential employers as well as keeping contact with his "good prospects." Much of this was done on the telephone. Gray testified that he felt the company had to "open the door" first. When he would call he would ask if they had any openings or were taking applications. If the answer was a strong no, he would not attempt to contact them in person. If the "door" was open or even ajar, he would go to the employer's office and submit his application, or speak with the foreman. Appellant reminded the Department that he had worked in the industry for 9 years and knows how to get jobs. He has done so successfully in the past following precisely the methods identified above. Until recently, he has not been unemployed. Often he has worked two jobs when necessary to better the quality of life for his family. He feels that he is an expert in finding work in the industry.

Yet as is common knowledge, this country is experiencing the highest unemployment rate since the Great Depression and Gordon Gray is clearly a victim of this. Construction trades and heavy industry are extremely depressed and jobs are scarce.

After Appellant received his last benefit check on October 2, 1982, in-person contacts became nearly impossible. His family was without any income, or savings. They were already behind in house payments, furniture payments, and utility bills, and he had no money to buy gas for his motorcycle. Contacts thereafter were almost entirely telephone contacts.

except for the week ending October 16, 1982. In that week, Gray borrowed money from relatives in order buy gas to look for work. (R. 79) In that week he made 6 job contacts, 5 of which were new and in-person. (R. 79, 80, 81) He even drove to Mercur, Utah to check with Anaconda Copper about jobs. (R. 72)

The specific job contacts made by Appellant are well documented in the record. Appellant believes it would be helpful to tally all the job contacts made during the time period in question, as the hearing examiner disregarded return calls made to previously contacted employers.

<u>Week Ending Date</u>	<u>Contacts Made</u>
August 29 - September 4	1 in-person
September 4 - September 18 (2 weeks)	9 contacts 6 new 4 in-person 5 by telephone
September 19 - September 25	6 contacts 4 new 6 by telephone
September 26 - October 2	6 contacts 3 new 6 by telephone
October 3 - October 9	9 contacts 7 new 9 by telephone
October 10 - October 16	6 contacts 5 new 5 in-person 1 by telephone
October 17 - October 23	4 contacts 1 new 4 by telephone
October 24 - October 30	7 contacts 7 new 7 by telephone

Total Contacts: 48
Average Contacts per week: 5.3

This was not the extent of Appellant Gray's job search, however. He testified that he checked the skills board at Job Service building "once or twice a week" and checked the ads in the newspaper daily. He learned of some job prospects from friends (R. 79) and relatives and fellow church members (R.73, 78) He has even checked with the newspaper circulation department to see if he could get a paper route. He attended job placement seminar at Job Service even though he was not required to do so. (R. 123) Gray feels that these other job search activities should be considered along with his employment contacts in determining his eligibility for benefits.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1) Did Appellant act in good faith to make an active and reasonable effort to secure employment?
- 2) Is the "2 to 3 new, in-person contact rule" a valid legal standard?
- 3) Was the offset of Appellant's weekly benefit amount excessive under the circumstances?
- 4) Does the Fourteenth Amendment require that recipients of Utah unemployment compensation benefits be afforded a Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970) hearing before being deprived of such payments?

ARGUMENT

THE BOARD OF REVIEW'S DETERMINATION IS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE, IS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS AND IS CONTRARY TO LAW.

POINT I.

APPELLANT CONDUCTED A DILIGENT JOB SEARCH. Utah law provides that:

An unemployed individual shall be eligible to receive benefits with respect to any week only if it has been found by the commission that:

. . .

(c) He is able to work and is available for work during each and every week with respect to which he made a claim for benefits under this Act, and acted in good faith in an active effort to secure employment,...

Utah Code Ann. §35-4-4 (1953, as amended) (emphasis added).

Utah law further clarifies the manner in which this requirement is to be interpreted and imposed in the next section of the Code, Ineligibility for benefits:

An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:

. . .

Failure to Apply for or Accept Work.

(c) If the commission finds that the claimant has failed without good cause to properly apply for available suitable work...provided no claimant shall be ineligible for benefits for failure to apply, accept a referral, or accept suitable work under circumstances of such a nature that it would be contrary to equity and good conscience to impose a disqualification.

The commission shall consider the purposes of this act, the reasonableness of the claimant's actions, and the extent to which the actions evidence a genuine continuing attachment to the labor market in reaching a determination of whether the ineligibility of a claimant is contrary to equity and good conscience.

Utah Code Ann. §35-3-5(c), (1953, as amended).

As noted above, in determining whether or not claimant has failed without good cause to properly apply for available suitable work, the commission must take into consideration among other factors, the "purposes of this act." U.C.A. §35-3-5(c) states this public policy and purpose:

As a guide to the interpretation and application of this act, the public policy of this state is declared to be as follows: Economic insecurity due to unemployment is a serious menace to the health, morals, and welfare of the people of this state. Unemployment is therefore a subject of general interest and concern which requires appropriate action by the legislature to prevent its spread and to lighten its burden which now so often falls with crushing force upon the unemployed worker and his family. The achievement of Social Security requires protection against this greatest hazard of our economic life.... The legislature, therefore, declares that in its considered judgment the public good, and the general welfare of the citizens of this state require the enactment of this measure....

It has since been held, that this Act, being remedial in nature should be liberally construed. Singer Sewing Machine Co. v. Industrial Comm. 134 P.2d 479 (Utah, 1943) reh.den. 134 P.2d 694 (Utah 1943). The Act should be administered

effectuate its purposes, which include lightening the burdens of unemployment and maintaining purchasing power in the economy. Johnson v. Board of Review of Industrial Comm., 320 P.2d 315 (Utah 1958).

The remedial purpose of the Act was further stated in Singer Sewing Machine, supra, to protect the health, morals, and welfare of the people by providing a cushion against the shocks and rigors of unemployment. The purpose of providing benefits was defined as twofold: First, to alleviate the need of the worker and his family who found no market for their services, and were deprived of wages by the general business collapse; Second, to provide increased buying power through pump-priming, and, thereby, to stimulate our economic system. Lexes v. Industrial Comm., 243 P.2d 964 (Utah 1952).

It is clear from the words of the statute and the purpose of the Act that the law requires a subjective analysis of the individual claimant's acts. The statute requires the claimant to act in "good faith in an active effort to secure employment."

This is further clarified in the case law. The Utah Supreme Court held in the case of Denby v. Board of Review, 567 P.2d 626 (Utah 1977) that the claimant "must act in good faith to make an active and reasonable effort to secure employment, and must be genuinely attached to the labor market." Id. at 628. This principle has not changed. The words "good faith" and "reasonable effort" imply a subjective individualized analysis of the claimants' job search efforts. The law does not

require the "2 to 3 new, in person contacts" imposed by the Appeals Referee. In the matter of Gordon A. Gray, Case 82-A-4423 at 4 (November 9, 1982) (The Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security, Appeals Section, Decision of Appeals Referee Shonnie B. Passey.) (R. 43-48)

Nor is the test whether or not Appellant Gray was doing the absolute best possible type of job search. The fact that Gray did not make a resume to staple to the front of his application, nor go in person to all his contacts is not operative. This does not reach the issue of "good faith" or "reasonable efforts." These points may serve as helpful advice to those seeking work but it is not required by the law.

Appellant's testimony was inherently believable, and was found credible by the Appeals Referee. From his testimony and job search list, he has provided a wealth of information about each employer; Appellant not only indicated the name of the person he spoke with and their response, but added information about what jobs they had going, what contracts they were expecting, their financial circumstances, as well as other information about the company. It is clear that Gray talked with them at some length to try to learn what his chances were and what the company's needs may be.

Appellant testified that his basic method was to contact the company, either by telephone or in person, fill out an application if permitted, and then continue calling them on a weekly basis. Often the companies would ask him to do just that. The Department has found that these return contacts

somehow did not count as they were not "new." The question should have been whether these return calls were reasonable and made in good faith.

The Department is encouraging individuals to hold back on their efforts by such a practice. In a small specialized field as is steel fabrication, there may be only 20-30 potential employers. If all were contacted within the first month of unemployment, the Appellant could never make another "new" contact in his field. The absurdity of this result illustrates the problem with the Department's position. This is precisely why the 2 to 3 new in-person contact rule is impractical. It leads to unfair and inequitable results. Furthermore, it eliminates the need for individual analysis of each Appellant's circumstances. The rule reduces the Appeals Referee's job to that of a computer, merely counting the number of new, in-person contacts, just as Shonnie Passey has done on page 3 of her decision. (R. 45) Such was not the intent of the legislature nor is it the legal requirement.

Appellant testified that the door must be first opened to him. When he would call an employer, often he would be advised of recent layoffs and financial woes. He would be discouraged by the companies from making a personal visit. Appellant submits that such telephone contacts were reasonable in today's economy. This is especially true later on in his claim after being terminated from benefits. Burning gas chasing down "in-person" contacts makes no sense when you have a family

to feed and house when there is no chance for a job based information you receive through a telephone call.

Perhaps Appellant should be considered the expert in job search in the steel fabrication industry. He has been working in the field for nine years and has been employed continuously. He has worked for several different companies and has acquired what he described as "solid contacts." He relies on this knowledge and his contacts to open the doors for him. He calls his contacts, they know of and appreciate the quality of his work. They want to hire him but can't. Going to them in person would not increase his chances with these companies. These individuals tell him about other prospects. If there seems to be a chance of getting an application or an interview, Appellant will go in person.

Along with these activities, Appellant reads the newspapers and ads daily. If the ad asks him to phone, he does! If they ask to send a resume, he'll send one. In-person contacts in these circumstances could hurt his chances of employment. An employer might think he can't follow directions or read well. Uninvited appearances may inconvenience the employer. Yet the Appeals Referee discounted all such efforts as they were not made in person.

All the evidence in the record proves that Appellant has acted in good faith and has made reasonable efforts to secure employment and has clearly demonstrated by his active work history, and credible testimony his continuing attachment to the work force.

A. Case Law Further Supports Appellant's Position.

The Appeals Referee in her decision relied upon the case of Gocke v. Industrial Commission, 420 P.2d 44 (Utah 1966). Appellant agrees Gocke is good law in Utah. The Gocke case also involved a job search issue. The first 2 weeks of Gocke's job search consisted of contacting her former employer and inquiring about a job with Shoppers' Discount store. Towards the end of her first month of unemployment, she made telephone calls to 4 employers. Ten days later she personally applied at Albertsons. She made telephone calls to jewelry stores and near the end of the second month she personally applied at Litton Data Systems. Then during the last week of the second month she mailed replies to newspaper box advertisements. On these facts the Utah Supreme Court found that:

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