1983

Gordon A. Gray v. The Industrial Commission of Utah, Department Of Employment Security : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THAT IN REVIEWING DETERMINATIONS OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION UNDER THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT THE COURT WILL AFFIRM THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS IF SUCH ARE SUSTAINED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

This Court has consistently held that where the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review are supported by evidence, they will not be disturbed. Martinez v. Board of Review, 477 P. 2d 587 (Utah, 1970). In the case of Members of Iron Workers Union of Provo v. Industrial Commission, 139 P. 2d 208, 211 (Utah, 1943), this Court held:

If there is substantial competent evidence to sustain the findings and decision of the Industrial Commission, this court may not set aside the decision even though on a review of the record we might well have reached a different result.

With specific reference to the question of availability, this Court has stated:

It is our duty to examine the record and to affirm the decision unless we can say as a matter of law that the conclusion on the question of "available for work" was wrong because only the opposite conclusion could be drawn from the facts. Gocke v. Wiesley, 420 P. 2d 44,46 (Utah, 1966); citing Salt Lake County v. Industrial Commission, 120 P. 2d 321 (Utah, 1940).

POINT II

THE INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 35-4-4(c), U.C.A. 1953, UTILIZED BY THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION FOR UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION ELIGIBILITY IS CONSISTENT WITH THE LAW AND IS REASONABLE.

The Appellant contends that the commission has applied in a rigid and inflexible manner the so-called 2-3 new in-person contact rule." That requirement is, however, only an interpretive guideline that is considered viable in most occupations and areas, but is not applied rigidly or inflexibly in all cases, nor has it been adopted as a formal general rule of adjudication.

Section 35-4-4(c) requires, by direct statutory language, that a claimant for unemployment insurance make an active and good faith effort to secure employment each week that he files for benefits. The burden is upon the claimant to prove he has met the requirements and conditions for benefit payments, including of course the requirement that he has made the expected work search effort. Rule A71-07-2:1.b, General Rules of Adjudication, Miscellaneous. Although the Utah Employment Security Act does not require that a claimant be engaged in a search for work for any given number of hours each day or week to prove he is engaged in an active good faith search, this Court has held that a claimant must be unequivocally exposed to the labor market and must show more than a passive willingness to gain employment. Denby v. Board of Review, 567 P. 2d 626 (Utah, 1977); Gocke, supra. Thus, the question of whether or not a claimant has engaged in a good faith active search for work is a mixed question of law and fact.

With Utah unemployment compensation claims as high as 35,000 during a particular week, and in recognition of the difficulty involved in the prompt adjudication and payment week by week of benefits, the Legislature gave to the Industrial Commission regulatory powers specifying that claims must be filed in accordance with rules and regulations adopted by the Commission.

Rule A71-07-2:2.c.(7), General Rules of Adjudication, supra, provides:

Inasmuch as each claimant is advised of his rights and responsibilities at the beginning of his claim series and since he certifies to eligibility requirements when continuing his claims, he should have sufficient knowledge to put him on notice that certain subjects might be important factors relative to a claim for benefits. The claimant is then under obligation to make proper inquiry and failure to do so constitutes fault.

When Appellant initially filed for benefits, he was given the Unemployment Insurance Claimant Guide and certified to the following statement on his initial claim form:

I understand that I must personally seek work and be able and available to accept full-time work. I have received the Unemployment Insurance Claimant Guide explaining my rights and responsibilities. (R.0166)

The Unemployment Insurance Guide provides:

Make an active effort to look for work. An active effort means that you should contact several employers in person each week who would hire people in your occupational field. (R.0176, Emphasis added)

"Several" obviously means more than one.

Appellant also signed and received a copy of the "Responsibilities While Claiming Benefits" form which provides:

Seek work - I must make an active effort to look for full time work each week and will follow up on any job leads I am given by Job Service. An active effort, in part, means I will personally contact employers who would hire people in my occupation. Failure to do so may be considered as evidence that I do not have a genuine desire to find immediate employment. (R.0165, Emphasis added)

Mr. Samuel Smith, a Department Representative, with over seven years' experience as a Placement-Interviewer, who testified to his familiarity with the labor market for welders, and who has taught job search workshops for the Department, (R.0112-0114) testified to the need and reason for requiring in-person contacts as follows:

Referee: I think that calls for an evaluation of this particular claimant. Let's rephrase the question and ask what should a welder do with Mr. Gray's experience be doing to try to find work?

Smith: He would be considered a journeyman. The best thing he can do would be just knock on doors. Because the only people who are actually getting jobs are in the right place at the right time.

Referee: Is making telephone contacts a good way for someone like Mr. Gray to obtain employment?

Smith: Presently, no. Because 90 percent, unless you have got a contact. But right now the way the labor market is you call and they automatically are going to say no if they have a position open because they have 20 people knock on the doors.

Referee: Do you advise the people in your workshops, do you tell them this?

Smith: Yes.

Referee: Do you tell them what you just told me?

Smith: Yes.

Referee: So you tell them to go out and knock on doors and to take their resume and to fill it out with the application and staple it on the front of the application?

Smith: Right. (R.0122)

This Court affirmed that the Department has the authority to make interpretations of the Employment Security Act in areas of mixed questions of fact and law. In the case of Salt Lake City Corporation v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah and Marian Lynch, 657 P. 2d 1312, (Utah, 1982), this Court stated:

In administrative law cases, our scope of review of an agency's decisions as to legal questions and questions of mixed law and fact is generally broader than our scope of review of questions of fact. On most questions of statutory construction, with some exceptions, our review is plenary with no deference accorded the administrative determination. That standard is particularly applicable with respect to constitutional law issues. However, where the language of a statute indicates a legislative intention to commit broad discretion to an agency to effectuate the purposes of the legislative scheme, we will not substitute our judgment for that of the agency as long as the commission's interpretation has "warrant in the record" and a "reasonable basis in the law." Unemployment Compensation Commission v. Aragon, 329 U.S. 143, 153-54 (1946); National Labor Relations Board v. Hearst Publications, Inc., 322 U.S. 111, 131 (1944). Furthermore, where agency decisions deal with technical questions which call for the exercise of expertise, born either of a technical background and training or long experience in dealing with numerous, similar problems, we also accord deference to an agency interpretation because of the necessity to recognize discretion commensurate with the nature of the issue, as defined by the general purposes of the Act, although the latitude accorded may vary with the nature of the issue. SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194 (1946), provides an example. The statutory language required that before the

Commission could give approval to a plan of reorganization of a utility holding company, the Commission was required to determine among other things that the plan was "fair and equitable." 332 U.S. at 204. The standard of review under such legal criteria was based on deference to the "informed discretion" of the Commission and permitted reversal of the Commission's ruling only upon a plain abuse of its discretion. Id. at 208. [657 P. 2d, at 1316.]

The minimal requirement placed upon claimants to contact 2-3 potential employers each week in person is reasonable and is supported by case law from other jurisdictions. For example, in Carr v. Administrator, Unemployment Compensation Act, 223 A. 2d 313 (Conn., 1966), the Commission was held to have acted reasonably in finding that the claimant had not made a reasonable effort to look for work when he contacted only one or two places a week. See also Jones v. Administrator, Unemployment Compensation Act, 228 A. 2d 807 (Conn., 1966); Redd v. Texas Employment Commission, 431 S.W. 2d 16 (Tx., 1968). And in Steinberg v. Fusari, 364 F. Supp. 922 (Conn., 1973), cited on pages 22 and 24 of Appellant's Brief, the United States District Court for the District of Connecticut stated, contrary to the assertions of the Appellant, as follows:

[I]f a stated number of employers must be visited, a claimant's acknowledgement that he had seen fewer than the required number would eliminate the factual controversy and provide an adequate basis for denial of benefits.

Considering the purpose of the work search requirement, the testimony of an experienced Department Placement Interviewer that most jobs are obtained by job seekers through personal contact, and the requirement of Denby v. Industrial Commission, supra, that a claimant must be unequivocally exposed to

the labor market, the requirement of 2-3 in-person contacts each week is reasonable and consistent with the generalized work-search requirement contained in the Act.

POINT III

THE BOARD OF REVIEW OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT PLAINTIFF FAILED TO MEET THE WORK SEARCH REQUIREMENTS FOR ELIGIBILITY AND THUS WAS NOT AVAILABLE FOR WORK, AND THIS DETERMINATION IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Appellant has misperceived the 2-3 new in-person contact requirement. Contrary to Appellant's assertion that the requirement is applied rigidly and inflexibly, it is utilized as a guideline by Department Representatives in determining eligibility. In the instant case the claimant was given written instructions, as set forth in Point II herein, concerning the requirement to make an active and good faith effort to find work by personally contacting employers.

Consistent with the written instructions given to the Appellant, the Appellant admitted that he was initially told by a Department Representative ". . . to make two job contacts a week on the job search." (R.0054) Commenting on the instructions given to claimants by the Department Representative who handled the Appellant's claim, Roger Slagowski, the claimant's supervisor testified:

Slagowski: She said "I advise the claimant to make two to three new in-person contacts each week and keep records in the back of the Claimant Handbook" and she said "at the top inside of the book of the Claimant Handbook, where it shows work-search record,

I write two to three per week" and down on the form it has the type of contacts . . . she has them circled in-person.

Referee: So she, in addition to what the Claimant Guide says, writes on that form "make two to three contacts a week" and circles in-person?

Slagowski: That is correct. (R.0106)

Appellant's Attorney stipulated to this testimony by Mr. Slagowski. (R.0104)

When the claimant reopened his claim for benefits in August, he was again instructed to keep his contacts active. (R.0055) Finally, the claimant attended a Job Search Work Shop in August, at which he was instructed to contact employers in person because telephoning was not productive. (R.0122) Despite the written instructions received by the claimant and, presumably, standard oral instructions by the claims interviewer (R.0106), and despite the instruction given at the workshop (R.0123), Appellant claimed he had not been instructed to make two to three new in-person contacts each week. (R.0163,0100,0086)

It seems unlikely that the claims interviewer would have changed her standard instructions to claimants when interviewing the Appellant as he suggests. (R.0086) Further, Appellant acknowledged that nothing prevented him from complying with the instruction to make in-person contacts. (R.0131) The claimant could read and write. (R.0097,0145-0152) He can't claim that he was hurried in the claim filing process or that he was not provided the opportunity to read and understand what he was filing as he was given the necessary papers on Friday and did not actually file his benefit claim until the following Monday. (R.0094)

Appellant's apparent failure to read the documents or to follow the verbal instructions given to him does not excuse him from making the required work search. It is because of this serious responsibility that claimants are required to sign certifications that they have received and have been instructed to read these documents. Claimants are also told there is the possibility of a denial of benefits and penalties for failing to comply with instructions from the Department. (R.0163,0165,0166,0176,0183)

The record shows that the Appellant made only one new in-person contact between August 29, 1982 and September 4, 1982 (R.0063), only one new in-person contact during the two weeks between September 5, 1982 and September 18, 1982, (R.0074) and no in-person contacts for the three weeks in October for which he was denied benefits, (R.0144,0150,0151,0153) even though he signed a statement on September 27, 1982, which stated in part, "I now know I must make two to three new in-person contacts each week or benefits could be denied." (R.0163) This fact situation appears almost analogous to the situation in Marvin L. Hurd v. Board of Review, 638 P. 2d 544 (Utah, 1981), wherein this Court held that a claimant, who had contacted only three businesses for the purpose of finding work during a 30 day period, was not entitled to unemployment compensation because his efforts showed only "a passive search for work" even though he alleged in his appeal to the Board of Review that he had made "numerous telephone calls pursuant to want ad listings." 638 P. 2d at 545.

Just as the Appellant was instructed to make at least two in-person contacts with potential employers, Appellant was also instructed when he initially reopened his claim to keep an accurate record of his job contacts. (R.0162,0165,0176) Pursuant to a letter from the Appeal Referee to Appellant's Attorney, dated October 19, 1982 (R.0154), Appellant provided a list of all employers he had allegedly contacted after he reopened his claim for benefits on August 19, 1982. (R.0144-0153) However, this list which was admittedly begun after September 29, 1982 (R.0071) was made only to the best of Appellant's recollection (R.0071,0110); conflicts with other papers he filed (R.0162); and conflicts with his own testimony. For example, Appellant lists that he filed applications with Ashby Metals, Mark Steel, and Allen Steel between September 4, 1982 and September 25, 1982. (R.0145-0146) The record shows, however, that applications with Ashby Metals and Mark Steel were submitted in June, 1982 (R.0060,0062) and the application with Allen "is about nine years old." (R.0065) Likewise, Appellant's list claims he made in-person contacts at eight businesses after reopening his claim. (R.0144) However, his testimony indicates that at least four of those businesses were only contacted by telephone. (R.0062,0065,0058)

Such sporadic employer contacts, the failure to maintain an accurate record, and particularly the failure to pursue in-person contacts after such explicit instructions, are inconsistent with an unequivocal exposure to the labor market and justify the denial of benefits in this case.

Appellant relies on Gocke, supra as support for his contention that his work search was adequate. See pages 15 and 16 of Appellant's Brief. However,

Gocke is distinguishable in that the claimant therein was not advised as to the extent of work search she should be making. The claimant in Gocke relied on the "Handbook for Claimants" which, when read literally, "doesn't require any affirmative action by a claimant other than registration." Id., at 4n. In the present case, however, there can be no doubt that Appellant was advised as to the extent of work search he should be making and there can be no doubt that he knew, or should have known, what constituted an active effort to secure employment.

In applying the 2-3 new in-person contact requirement as a guideline in considering the claimant's eligibility for benefits, the Board of Review looked at the totality of the claimant's efforts to find work, as evidenced by the following statement from the decision of the Board of Review:

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